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Barbara Quinn Smith (Ohio Bar 0055328)
(pro hac vice)

MADDOX HARGETT & CARUSO, P.C.
9853 Johnnycake Ridge Road

Suite 302

Mentor, OH 44060

Telephone: 440-354-4010

Facsimile: 440-848-8175
bgsmith@mhclaw.com

(Additional Counsel listed below)

Attorneys for David Baba and Ray Ritz, Named Plaintiffs and all others similarly situated
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN JOSE DIVISION

DAVID BABA, CASE NO: 09-05946-RS
and
SECOND AMENDED CLASS
RAY RITZ, ACTION COMPLAINT

Individually and on behalf
of all others similarly situated,

Jury Demand Endorsed Hereon

PLAINTIFFS,

_VS_

HEWLETT PACKARD COMPANY,
A Corporation,

DEFENDANT.

Named Plaintiffs David Baba and Ray Ritz bring this action against Defendant, Hewlett
Packard Company (“HP” or “Defendant”), on behalf of themselves and all others similarly
situated, and allege upon information and belief, except as to their actions, the investigation of

their counsel, and the facts that are a matter of public record, as follows:
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INTRODUCTION

1. Named Plaintiffs bring this action to obtain damages, restitution,
disgorgement, injunctive and other relief individually and on behalf of the proposed class
defined below.

2. This action is brought to remedy violations of applicable law in
connection with Defendant’s design, manufacture, marketing, distribution and/or sale of TX
2000 and TX 2500 series notebook computers, and other models to be identified through
discovery that have a similar design. The design of the notebook causes the cursor to move
around randomly on the screen, rendering the computer unusable and unfit for its ordinary and
intended purpose.

3. The TX 2000 and TX 2500 series notebook computers are “tablet” or
“touch screen” computers, meaning that the user is able to interact with the computer by
touching areas on the screen, either with a finger or with the digital pen designed for use with
the computer. Touching the screen replicates the action that would be performed by the mouse
and cursor on a traditional computer.

4. Named Plaintiffs assert claims individually and collectively under the
Unfair Competition Law (“UCL” or “Section 17200"), Business and Professional Code § 17200
et seq., the Consumer Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”), Civil Code § 1750 et seq. and the

warranty laws of the states where class member reside.
THE PARTIES

5. Named Plaintiff David Baba is a resident of Tucson, Arizona. On or about
November 29, 2008, Mr. Baba purchased an HP TX 2000 series notebook from Sam’s Club in
Tucson, Arizona.

6. Named Plaintiff Ray Ritz is a resident of Ipswich, Massachusetts. On or
about March 25, 2008, Mr. Ritz purchased an HP TX 2000 series notebook directly from HP.

7. Defendant HP is a California corporation with its principal place of

business in Palo Alto, Santa Clara County, California. Named Plaintiffs’ Declarations, as
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required under Cal. Civ. Code 8§ 1780(d), reflecting that HP does business in this judicial district,

including the county in which this Court sits, are attached collectively as Exhibit A.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. This action is brought to remedy Defendant’s violations of state warranty,
consumer protection and related statutes based upon the design, manufacture, marketing,
distribution and/or sale of the subject computers.

9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1332(d)(2) because the matter in controversy, upon information and belief, exceeds $5,000,000,
exclusive of interests and costs, and this matter is a class action in which certain class members
are citizens of states different from that of Defendant.

10.  Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1391, because
Defendant does business in this district, and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving

rise to Named Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this district.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

11. Named Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of themselves and a class defined as all
purchasers in the United States of a TX 2000 or TX 2500 series notebook manufactured by
Defendant Hewlett Packard. Excluded from the Class are Defendant, as well as Defendant’s
affiliates, employees, officers and directors, including franchised dealers, any person who has
experienced physical injury as a result of the defects at issue in this litigation and the Judge to
whom this case is assigned. Named Plaintiffs reserves the right to amend this Class definition if
discovery and further investigation reveals that the Class should be expanded or otherwise
modified.

12.  The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members
would be impracticable. Named Plaintiffs reasonably estimate that there are thousands of Class

members who purchased the subject notebook computers. The members of the Class are readily
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identifiable from information and records in Defendant’s possession, custody or control. The
disposition of these claims will provide substantial benefits to the Class.

13.  There are questions of law and fact common to the members of the Class
that predominate over any questions affecting only individual Class members, including, but not
limited to, the following:

a. Whether Defendant omitted and/or concealed material facts from Named Plaintiffs
and the Class regarding the defective notebook computers;
b. Whether, by the misconduct set forth in this Complaint, Defendant has engaged in

unfair or unlawful business practices with respect to the sale of the subject

computers;

C. Whether Defendant had a duty to disclose the defect to Named Plaintiffs and the
Class;

d. Whether, by its conduct, Defendant violated the unfair, unlawful, and/or

fraudulent prongs of the UCL,;

e. Whether, by its conduct, Defendant violated the CLRA; and
f. Whether the notebook computers are defective; and

14. Named Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the
Class. Named Plaintiffs have no interests antagonistic to those of the Class and are not subject to
any unique defenses.

15. Named Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of all
members of the Class and have retained attorneys experienced in class action and complex
litigation.

16. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and
efficient adjudication of this controversy for, inter alia, the following reasons:

a. Itiseconomically impractical for members of the class to prosecute separate actions;
b. The class is readily definable;

c. Prosecution as a class action will eliminate the possibility of repetitious litigation; and
d. A class action will enable claims to be handled in an orderly and expeditious manner,

will save time and expense and will ensure uniformity of decisions.
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SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

17.  This action is brought on behalf of the Class defined above.

18.  The notebook computers at issue are manufactured, marketed and sold by
HP both directly to consumers and through its established network of retailers. HP specifically
warrants the notebook computers to be “free from defects in materials and workmanship under
normal use during the warranty period.” Exhibit B, pg. 2.

19.  The representation that the computers are “free from defects in materials
and workmanship under normal use during the warranty period” is contained in the warranty that
accompanies each notebook at the time of sale, and is therefore part of the description of the
goods and goes to the basis of the bargain between HP and the purchaser.

20. The notebook computers at issue are marketed as “tablet” or ‘touchscreen”
computers, that is, a notebook computer equipped with a touch screen which allows the user to
operate the computer with a stylus, digital pen, or a fingertip, instead of a keyboard or mouse.
The “tablet” or “touchscreen” features are advertised widely by HP, are listed as a feature of the
computer on all online and in-store descriptions shown to all consumers at the point of sale, and
were/are material to a consumer’s decision to purchase these particular models over other
notebook computers.

21. Notebook computers produce significant amounts of heat due to the
number of components confined within a relatively small space. The notebook computers at
issue contain a cooling fan that works to reduce the internal temperature of the notebook. In
these models, the cooling fan is located on the right side of the notebook, just above the

keyboard panel.
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22, In the case of the computers at issue, the operation of the cooling fan
continually draws the cursor to the lower right hand portion of the screen. This significantly
interferes with normal operation of the notebook.

23.  Sophisticated users have figured out that the problem can be temporarily
resolved by disabling the “tablet” or “touchscreen” functions of the computer in the computer’s
hardware profile. These functions are the distinguishing characteristic of these computers. Thus,
the defect present in these computers affects the very essence of unique features of these
computers.

24. A number of complaints concerning this problem, and HP’s failure to
repair it, have been posted on the internet (Complaints posted on HP.com are shaded in gray;

statements indicating that the poster contacted HP about the jumping cursor are in bold type.)*:

DATE OF DESCRIPTION AND CITATION
POST

5/17/2008 | This has been irritating me for a bit; the mouse cursor likes to jump down to the
system tray and move around/click randomly without any input from me. | tried
disabling the trackpad, using a USB mouse, disabling the touch input, disabling the
touch input AND wacom layer, it doesn't matter what -- | always end up running
into this problem sooner or later. I've even reformatted, just in case | picked up
some kind of nasty malware. No go.

The weird thing is, while it seems to happen entirely on its own, it seems to happen
a lot more often if | have the fan in my room turned on... almost as if cold air
blowing by aggravates the laptop for some reason.

Has anyone else had a problem like this? It makes using the laptop a pain in the ass,
since it tends to randomly right- and left- click things in the system tray and
interrupts my typing.

Posted by srothroc on_http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own.html

5/18/2008 | I had the same problem. Also auto-rotate was not functioning. Sent it to HP for
repair and they said they didnt find anything wrong with it, but they replaced
the entire display and i havnet had either problem since i got it back.

Posted by jonbisch on_http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own.html

! Posts to HP.com forums made prior to November, 2008 have been removed from the
website.

-6-

SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  CASE NO. 09-05946-RS



http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own.html
http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own.html
http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own.html
http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own.html

© 00 N o o b~ O w N

I T T N I N N N R N R N R e I I T i o e =
© N o o0 B~ W N P O © 0o N o O~ W N P O

6/5/2008

hil i live in the philippines and bought the tz2000 last march. after around 2 weeks,
the cursor started to jump lie crazy. it stays on one specific spot, with random
clicks. that said spot is the right lower part of the screen, which usually brings up
the clock/calendar.

i tried calling HP support but they don't know how to help and just suggested
a system restore or a reformat. since i couldn't do a system restore (vista spl
update messed it up.. while it tries to install itself and failed), i resorted to
reformatting the laptop myself.

after a few days, it happened again! i tried to limit the startup processes and even
thought that adobe or java has something to do with it, but nothing really helped.

i tried removing temp files and internet files thinking that some files caused the
problems. it wasn't malware or whatever since norton didn't find anything of that
sort. the only thing i can do right now is try to reformat again and use it for a month
without installing any programs.. but that really defeats the purpose of having a
laptop. what's the point of having one when i can even run programs with it, fearing
that the jumping cursor would act up again?

it now been two months of jumping cursors and i'm really REALLY pissed. i love
this laptop, but it seems that having my windows randomly close and open,
minimize and maximize, is taking a toll on my productivity.

Posted by preckie on_http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own.html

6/5/2008

I have the same issue that you are having. My computer showed signs of this
problem right out of the box and I sent it back for repair. HP is unable to find
any issues with the computer so they are replacing the touch pad and sending
it back.

I highly doubt that this will solve the issue, but when | get the computer back next
week I'll update.

UPDATE on 6/13/2008 - | got the computer back today. Still broken. Looks like
the touchpad was just a shot in the dark for HP.

I'm asking for a return at this point. I had the computer for less than 2 weeks, even
when you count the days of shipping to and from HP for service.

The computer is useless with the way it acts. Even closing the laptop makes the
cursor move the the bottom right corner and click. When | get to about 20 degrees
is when the cursor moves. This indicates to me the problem may reside in the
hinge, but that's just a guess. | really don't much care anymore...I just want to get it
out of my hair!
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Good luck getting yours fixed...

Posted by photon_1 on_http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-
packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own.html

6/8/2008

ok now i am having one problem with this laptop... with an external mouse plugged
in, the mouse cursor randomly jumps to the lower right and right-clicks when it
does. Very annoying. Anyone else ever had this problem?

Posted by NNugles at http://forum.notebookreview.com/notebook-news-
reviews/209293-hp-pavilion-tx2000z-review-6.html

6/14/2008

i had this problem to .. after re installing every thing twice i (not hp) figured out it
only did it when i had my power settings to high performance. if you keep your
proccessor down to 90% it does not do this . i used balanced till i figured out how
to make my own power profile. i told hp and the guy replied back. glad we could
help have a nice day.

Posted by Timeroler on_http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-
packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own.htmil

8/2/2008

I had the same problem just start happening to me. | have had my tx2000 for about
a month now... power using. Absolutely NO PROBLEMS until 3 days ago when
the cursor started snapping to the taskbar by itself, and then would do a right click,
by itself, followed by me waking up to 50 windows opened up from programs on
my quick launch bar by this self clicking cursor. (I left the laptop open all night.) |
Did all the virus spyware sweeps, all the investigations as to what is happening
with this cursor. Drivers, disabling wacom, and everything. | am happy to report
that I found this thread and it saved me from the dreaded reinstall. | myself found
that unplugging the A/C adapter from the computer stopped the mouse from
jumping. Then | found this thread and read the last post about the processor %. Put
2 and 2 together. unplugged the processor was set at 50% plugged in at 100%. |
moved the processor % to 89 when plugged in, and cursor is back to normal.
Crappy fix...but it works.....so there is the problem HP read the genius's post before
me and give us a real fix that does not compromise our processor speed. HUGE
Kudos to TIMEROLER from me, saving me from OS reinstall that I knew would
not help.

Posted by draftdoctor on_http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-
packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-2.html

8/5/2008

I have the same problem as well. My cursor moves to the bottom right and

occasionally clicks. I left my laptop on overnight too only to find a few windows
open. | only had this problem when the power option was set to Balanced or High
Performance. It doesn't happen when | have it set to Power Saver. | guess 89% is
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the magic number, I'll give that a try.

Posted by Mingdizzle at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-
packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-2.html

8/21/2008

I've got this problem too. Had my TX2k about 4 months now, but it just started
recently. Cursor will move to the lower right hand area of the screen (pretty much
the same spot everytime).

Annoying as hell, as it will happen when I'm trying to type things, or trying to -
scroll.... in fact.. it's happened three times so far just while I've been typing this. &

HP denies that there's a problem. Their customer service people just make me
angrier by telling me I must be touching the trackpad with my wrist while |
type.... and when | explain to them that it will happen when my hands are no
where near the laptop, they just repeat their mantra that there are no known
issues. Makes me so freaking angry.

Posted by djnine21 at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-2.html

8/22/2008

I have a pavilion tx2000, and the model is tx2032au.

Recently I'm having a problem with the cursor and the touchpad driver.

When I'm browsing through my PC, my cursor keeps getting to the right bottom
side of my screen, it just disappears and the next thing | know is that it's around the
area of the right side of my taskbar.

It doesn't seems like it's the problem with the touch screen because there will be a
mouse button along the side of the pointer if | touch the screen but it doesn't shows
up when the pointer jump to the right bottom of my screen, so it think the touch
screen feature is not the cause of the problem. It's very annoying because | have to
move the pointer to the middle everytime.

Posted by YH at
http://forums11.itrc.hp.com/service/forums/bizsupport/questionanswer.do?admit=1
09447626+1274004858646+28353475&threadld=1261720. Note that the original
has been removed; the cached version may be found at
http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:j974iSLk-
4kJ:forumsll.itrc.hp.com/service/forums/bizsupport/questionanswer.do%3Fadmit
%3D109447626%2B1273956805275%2B28353475%26threadld%3D1261720+%
22move+the+pointer+to+the+middle+everytime%22&cd=1&hl=en&ct=cInk&qgl=u
S

9/5/2008

I found a quick solution for me that works without giving up processing power.
You'll have to give up the touchscreen feature of the wacom, but the pen will still
work just not the finger. Been using for a few hours with no problems.
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You will need to go into your device manager and disable the second instance of
"Wacom USB ISD" Works for me, hopefully will do the same for you.

***Spoke too soon. Lasted for some time but came back afte the next restart. Guess
I'm going to have to resort to a warranty claim...***

Posted by Firefalldown at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-
packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-2.html

9/7/2008 Okay, so my mouse cursor has been doing this for a couple of weeks now as well.
It's kind of whatever at sometimes, but other times it's REALLY annoying. I called
HP, no help, of course.

I tried decreasing max processing power to 89% from Control Panel > Power
Options > Change Plan Settings > Change Advanced Power Settings. NO LUCK

&
At first | thought it was cured, but nope. | happened again. That's the crappiest

thing, is that it's sporadic. You can't tell if you fixed the problem or not. The HP
guy remoted into my machine, and it stopped happening all of the sudden.

Anyone have any more ideas? PLEEEASE.

Posted by Phenomenon2k4 at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-
packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-2.htmil

Update on 9/23/2008: Bad news...

| disabled the power thing for my fingerprint reader. It worked wonders and |
almost crapped my pants in happiness, but...

Yes, the inevitable "but." Everyone now and then, this mouse problem comes
back...with a vengeance. I'm fresh out of ideas. Called HP. Not sure what gave
me that great idea. Those fools are clueless. And now, my pen won't go all the
way into its slot anymore. A centimeter or two just sorta sticks out of the side.

[sigh]
I'll accept any idea on fixing this thing. Anything. lol

Posted by Phenomenon2k4 at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-
packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-3.html

9/8/2008 On mine (model: TX2075br) disabling windows power management for AuthenTec
Inc. AES1610 in device manager fixed this issue.
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I know, it's very weird, because this device is the fingerprint reader.g.fi
But after doing that, no more cursor "jumps". Now I'm a happy user &
Give itatry.

P.S. The max proc power option don't do the trick for me.

Posted by TX Happy User at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-
packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-3.html

9/24/2008

I've had this problem since June. | talked to HP multiple times they said they
suspect that this is not a software issue and in fact that it may be my touch pad
that needs to be replaced. I'm sending in my computer for repair after the Fall
semester is over. I'm hoping that they cannot resolve my issue so | could get a free
upgrade to the Tx 2500.

Has anyone's cursor problem been fixed by HP?

Posted by Carl 2000 at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-3.html

9/26/2008

Had to join to add to this thread, | have to say | so regret getting this laptop. First it
failed after a few weeks with BSODs (came back from repair stating ram failure).
Now I'm exhibiting the same roving mouse cursor in the bottom right.

From the troubleshooting I've done I'm going with it being related to the Wacom
digitiser as, mention in another post, the sound and graphics match that of the pen.
I've also disabled the pad and touchscreen with no change.

One thing I did notice is moving the screen seemed to trigger/stop the problem.
Although with it being so temperamental this might be coincidence like the other
changes people have done that appear to work then don't.

I'm about ready to give up, love the spec of this machine but the quality is clearly
terrible and my experience of HP customer service isn't much better. I'll see if I can
force a repair or some sort of trade in lieu of a refund this weekend. Failing that I'm
going to have to take probably a large loss and ebay it. Takes the biscuit when you
can't even watch a movie without the random clicks advancing, stopping the film.

Posted by Jelster at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-3.html

10/2/2008

I have a new hp pavilion tx2000 with vista home premium my cursor will randomly
move to the bottom right hand corner (taskbar)It does it in both duel monitor and
single. I have checked and unchecked everything in mouse properties, its getting
quite old....HELP.

Posted by eastsidepraise at http://techrepublic.com.com/5208-6230-
0.htmlI?forumID=101&threadD=275331
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10/12/2008 | I suffer an acute case of the ghost-actuated mouse cursor in the system tray

(notification area), to the point the computer is completely useless. When 1 first
searched the Web for answers, little was to be found; now, it suddenly seems to be
as popular as influenza, heartburn, and ulcers. I've suffered plenty of the latter over
this issue, so here's the gist of what I have to say:

A carefully placed piece of aluminum foil actually resolves the problem. (1)

Details: When searching for answers a few months ago, the few forum posts |
found elsewhere claimed that QC-challenged touchscreens sometimes develop this
problem due to electromagnetic interference. | noticed that the screen only had this
problem when it was not rotated out of the normal laptop position; rotating the
screen by several inches allowed me use of the computer, but blocked the
keyboard, necessitating use of an external USB keyboard and rendering my
"laptop” non-lappable in practice. | also noticed that the area where the mouse
cursor clicks wildly is in the system tray---directly adjacent to the main exhaust fan
and, | presume, the processor. (I have not checked the service manual to verify
this.)

So | carefully folded a piece of aluminum foil and placed it so that it lays flat from
the hinge to the edge side to side, all the way up to the edge of the keyboard in
front, and a few inches up the back of the screen in the rear. This completely
resolves the issue, except when the foil slips. It is also a terrible inconvenience
which impairs portability and makes my $1400 machine look like a makeshift piece
of junk---in other words, it makes it look like an HP. (Can you tell how happy I am
with them?)

Well, at least my hardware no longer gets "Safely Removed" without my
involvement. Certainly, it does interfere a tiny bit with my wireless reception. But
now | can actually type, surf the Web, and otherwise use the computer. | suppose
dealing with HP equipment is a lesson in tradeoffs, after all.

I have not yet experimented with the exact size the foil needs to be, or whether |
can figure out how to permanently secure it. | also have some other hypotheses
about potential workarounds, but have not yet tried the same. Real life has a way of
soaking up time...

I have not yet tried sending the machine in question for servicing; but given my
experience with HP service and support in the past, I'd almost rather enjoy a root
canal than attempt that option.

In quality terms, at this point, HP is one short rung up in hell from Dell. I'll bet a
whole dollar this screen was assembled in China and would poison my dog if | fed
it to him.

If HP solves this one by building in a little shielding (rather than doing the right
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thing in engineering or QA), they may feel free to PM me for the address where
they should send the check.

I hope this helps someone. | wish I'd had this tip when the problem started, just a
few weeks after | bought this scrapheap.

Posted by prose at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/21498-
solution-hp-tx-jumping-clicking-mouse-cursor.html

10/17/2008 | k, i think this is my first post here.. not sure, doesn't matter anyways...
love my laptop to bits, but the cursor problem is a serious turn off. Here's what i
have to say about solutions:

This problem doesn't happen when your running on the battery. If your charging or
if the laptop is plugged in, then the cursor goes crazy every now and then. However
when it's just running on battery power, then all's good.

Just like the previous poster posted, rotating the screen works (for me it's rotating it
till the page down button on the keyboard would be located behind the monitor).
But i didn't pay money to get a laptop that would have to look weird in order for me
to use it with no hassle.

i tried the brightness level trick, didn't work.

Finally, i changed my power plan settings, but at the time of writing this, there's no
problem with the cursor so i can't tell if that worked. But i have a good feeling
about this because the default settings were 5% on battery and 100% when plugged
in. Just like i said, with my laptop running only on the batter, no problems. So
maybe this is the answer to our question.

Carl2000, check your settings again. make sure that you change the plugged in
settings to 5%. Hope it works.

Over and out.

EDIT: k, after a week of using this solution i can only say that it doesn't work
100%, as it has happened twice with me during this week, but it wasn't as annoying
as before because it would only move a few times, unlike before were it would
seem that it was stuck at the bottom of the screen.

Posted by A77alistic at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-3.html

10/27/2008 | After much experimentation, and reading some of your posts, | discovered the
problem! The wacom is detecting pen inputs in the bottom right corner of the
screen. When in laptop mode this is right about the metal fan. The more the fan
spins, the more likely the metal will trigger the wacom. The only real way to
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control fan usage is to slow down the processor. Though I haven't tried it, some sort
of shielding will solve it (like tin foil). Or you can move the screen a bit so it isn't
directly over the fan. Or go to tablet mode... I've never had the problem while in
tablet mode....

Posted by Bobthemagicmoose at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-
packard/17163-tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-4.html

11/10/2008

I'm going to be trying the last solution before looking like a jerk with tin foil on my
beauty.

Anyway | feel | should add that maybe 20% of when my cursor did the corner jump
thing, I'd see a "flick™ back icon appear and fade away (I'm using the advanced
default flick settings except that forward and back are inverted). If somehow |
could share this, it would prove that it wasn't the touch pad.

Posted by daghead at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-4.html

11/11/2008

I'm sure that the touchpad is not the problem. (disabled touchpad but the cursor still
moving) | did try turn the screen a bit degree as "phenomenon2k4" suggestions, and
it stopped. So the problem 100% related to the components at the lower-right LCD
area.

The problem started occasionally, but when it started, it very annoying.
After | did like my previous posting (with RMClock removed), the problem has not
happened again.

Posted by Oatt at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-tx2000-
Mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-4.html

11/20/2008

well... excuse me if i have a bad english (im colombian so i speak spanish... =P)...
Im having this #3$%%" problem with my pc 3 months ago (1 month later before i
bought it)... I have done my investigations n only in one forum could answer me
about this problem (because the HP suppourt couldnt make any solutions to
anyone)... i give u the link
"http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/showthread.php?t=17163" read it all because
there are things that might work for ones and for other dont... i hope this works....

Posted by Paola Andrea Gonzalez Montoya at
http://forums11.itrc.hp.com/service/forums/bizsupport/questionanswer.do?admit=1
09447626+1274004858646+28353475&threadld=1261720

11/20/2008

Here's something:

http://www.aluminumwrench.com/mirror...rsorcursed.swf
(that's pretty mild compared to some of the attacks")

The darn thing is hard to catch since it's so random, but with a little patience | was
able to get some video of it...
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I wonder how many complaints it would take to get a mass recall

Posted by Juice at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-tx2000-
MmOouse-cursor-moves-its-own-4.htmil

Update 12/2/2008: More complaints = one step closer to a mass recall @

What really erks me is that they don't believe it to be real...

Posted by Juice at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-tx2000-
Mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-4.htmi

11/24/2008 | I'm here to add to the growing list of complaints.

Same exact problem on my tx2000z.

I've tried the 89% processing power with no avail.
Haven't tried the tin foil solution, but | don't care to open my laptop. &

I've tried contacting HP's support 3 times now, and twice | got some Indian
guy who couldn’t help me, and the one British woman | got was no help. I'm
just going to call back during Christmas break (as I'm a student and need my laptop
until then) and ***** until | either a) get my money back or b) get a tx2500
replacement.

Has anyone else successfully gotten through to HP and gotten good results
Also, does the same problem exist in the tx2500?

Posted by chreesawks at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-4.html

11/25/2008 | i bought this tx2000z few months back direct from hp. experiencing the same

problem.

Posted by durgesh at
http://forumsl11.itrc.hp.com/service/forums/bizsupport/questionanswer.do?admit=1
09447626+1274004858646+28353475&threadld=1261720

11/25/2008 | I've got an HP pavillion entertainment laptop. | use the touchpad, and | use a

mouse. When | am typing, either in an email or other documents, i'll be

typing along, then I'll look at the screen and my cursor will have jumped to a
different place on the page and half of my sentence that | just typed is

in a totally different place on the page then where | typed it. It's driving me crazy. |
can't even type a simple email without having to retype and reclick

and backspace a hundred times. Anyone have any suggestions? I've checked all the
setting on my mouse and touchpad and nothing is turned on or
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off that should not be. Also, if the mouse sits too long in any location, it has a mind
of its own and just clicks and takes me to places i don't want to go. i

have to constantly move the pointer way over to the edge of the desktop so it
doesnt click on anything. thanks for any help you can offer.

Posted by Crafter at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/Other-Notebook-PC-
questions/Cursor-jumps-all-over-screen-when-i-m-typing/m-
p/2377/highlight/true#M144

12/1/2008 | My computer has the same issue. I've tried the disable fingerprint reader (that thing
is so unreliable anyway) and to no avail. It behaves for a while and then will
suddenly get manic for no presumptive reason. | can't stand it. I really hope anyone
consider this machine to just avoid it because its not worth the pain and suffering
you have from annoying glitches like this.

I'm going to try the screen rotate idea, but if this doesn't work I'm calling HP and
demanding it to be fixed, replaced or my money back. Does anyone think this will
work?

Posted by Jimgress at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-4.html

12/6/2008 Hi there.

New here, but disappointingly, I've only registered to reply that I have the same
unbelievably annoying jumping mouse cursor issue with my TX. Ugh. | am trying
the tilting screen thing and so far, so good.

BTW, for my TX, it's not the pad because I've turned it off before and have still
seen the cursor jump. Ugh... Would love to get this fixed for real.

Posted by gottspd at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-5.html

12/10/2008 | Help!! Everytime I plug my notebook in the mouse jumps down to the right corner.
It keeps bouncing off icons there and driving me nuts. | can only
type for a second or two before it moves again. Anyone else have this problem?

Posted by Riah at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/Other-Notebook-PC-
questions/erratic-mouse/m-p/7456/hi

12/12/2008 | I called HP a couple of month ago; successfully reproduced the problem; and
made the tech support acknowledge the presence of the problem. I didn't send
my laptop back because I need it to take notes. | will do it after the x'mas break.

Posted by jerryzj at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-5.html
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12/17/2008

Pavilion tx2000 laptop has a mouse pad that is spastic, the cursor is not controllable
and bounces all over the screen when I'm trying to move it. The only thing that
seems to solve the issue is if | put my other hand under the edge of the computer at
any point. My wife has exactly the same computer and problem

Posted by sablecougar at http://www.fixya.com/support/t1394669-
hp_pavilion laptop _mouse pad problem

12/20/2008

I've had the same problem with the mouse jumping to the lower right corner of the
screen (HP tx2000). Flexing that portion of the screen would sometimes reduce the
frequency of the problem, but wouldn't stop it entirely.

I'm now sure the problem is with the pen digitizer. I've permanently stopped the
problem by going to Device Manager > Human Interface Devices > then disabled
the following drivers: Virtual Touch Driver, Wacom USB ISD (both of them) and
Wacom Virtual Hid Driver. This disables both the touch screen and the pen input.
No more jumping mouse.

I'll get by without the tablet PC features until I can send the unit back to HP for
repair.

Posted by timrv6a at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-5.html

1/20/2009

I have been frustrated with the same issue--1 noticed that the problem goes away if
I tilt the monitor back away from the keyboard. The problem immediately returns
when | tilt the monitor toward the keyboard. The only way I could eliminate the
issue was to disable the driver for the Pen. | am unsure whether this is a hardware
or software issue.

Posted by Lazerus at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/Other-Notebook-PC-
questions/erratic-mouse/m-p/7456/hi

1/5/2009

Hi, after almost a long time being away from this thread, this one is making mad.
8E) With the help of the guys here, to be more specific, galio8 (kory); | have
almost no problem with my laptop, except the mouse jumps! Unfortunately, the
cursor lands on a very bad area - where my firefox weather add on is located. And
guess what, the browser heads to the weather forecast website. Any ideas how to
get rid of this jumps?

Posted by pooyaplus at
http://ohioloco.ubuntuforums.org/showthread.php?p=6417219

1/27/2009

i have the same damn problem but hp think the problem dont exit i contacted
hp like 4 times but all they made me do is adjust sensitivity of touchpad,
uninstall/reinstall all mice drivers, use recovery system, flash bios, etc. BUT
NONE OF THEM WORKED

Posted by kusari at http://www.fixya.com/support/t1561073-cursor_problem
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2/21/2009

I am getting the cursor arrow rapidly jumping around the centre of the screen at
intervals for no apparent reason. Any ideas what might be causing
this? Many thanks for any help in advance

Posted by ArtfulDodger at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TouchSmart-PC/Cursor-
Jumping/m-p/36549/highlight/true

2/24/2009

I have the same problem... | have a HP Pavilion tx2540BR and it kills me when the
mouse goes crazy, bouncing at the right low corner of the screen, clicking stuff.
Usually, it shows up the icon of the pen tablet when it happens... Once | imagined it
was because the screen was dirty, but I cleaned it and it keeps happening... | don't
know what to do...

Posted by Liu484 at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/Other-Notebook-PC-
guestions/erratic-mouse/m-p/7456/hi

3/4/2009

how’s it going guys? it's been a year and HP still haven't fixed my laptop. they
changed the lid but the problem still persists. i don't know why they didn't just
admitted that there's a problem and recall the product. they don't even want to fix
my laptop for free since it has been a few days since my 1yr warranty expired.

Posted by preckie at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-5.html

3/5/2009

hi. im having the same problem too.hp service has replaced the keyboard for me
(kinda happy since my previous keyboard is 3% dirty.. LOL and they cleaned
my fan area too!), as they said previous case can be solved by keyboard
replacement.however it seems doesn't solve anything. so i demand for
LCD/touchscreen replacement and see if it works. they have to order the parts from
their factory as they said it is having worldwide insufficient stock issue.

i think you guys can try to get a keyboard replacement first and see if it helps.

Posted by soongteck at http://forum.tabletpcreview.com/hewlett-packard/17163-
tx2000-mouse-cursor-moves-its-own-5.html

3/11/2009

My cursor disappears and then reappears in the bottom right of the screen, usually
causing me to inadvertantly launch another application. I can go for hours of use
with no problems, but when it starts happening it will move the cursor every 2-5
seconds

Posted by CDH963 at http://www.fixya.com/support/t1561073-cursor_problem

4/8/2009

this unit has been with me for a year and it plague me with this problem. it's
intermitent, it's irritating. i have HP Philippines fix it, they changed the monitor
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but the problem still persists. HP sold this defective laptop and i'm not the only
one who's money has gone down the drain for a "quality-made" hardware. HP
Philippines won't fix it anymore since my 1-year warranty expired. but what
should i do? they sold it to me defective, but they won't change it? i don't think it's
right.

even other people living in other countries have the same problems. yet HP won't
acknowledge us our problems since we already bought the laptop. it's unfair. they
should at least change our defective units. either all tx2000 have this problem or
we're just the unlucky ones whom HP won't help. so much for sutomer service.
where's the service when we need it the most?

Posted by preckie at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/tx2000-cursor-moves-on-its-own/td-p/53431

4/18/2009

I just got this and have the same problem. drives me nuts! once you use the pointer
all control of the mouse is gone. then the screen saver won't work because the
mouse is all over the place. I hate this computer!

Posted by mjd60005 at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/tx2000-cursor-moves-on-its-own/td-p/53431

4/22/2009

HP needs to repair or replace my HP TX2000. The mouse cursor keeps jumping to
the bottom right corner of the screen on its own. I realised that there is a lot of heat
generated in that corner of the base keyboard for some reason, which makes the
mouse jump there. the mouse works perfectly when | rotate the screen away from
that corner, but obviuosly that makes it extremely awkward to work, with the
screen angled in another direction and the Del, BkSpace keys hiding behind the
screen! Ofcuorse, this heat is the culprit, and a strange design flaw of the unit!

Posted by sandeeproyl at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/tx2000-cursor-moves-on-its-own/td-p/53431

5/17/2009

If you are in the market for a Tablet PC, | would avoid the HP tx2000 series. The
tx2115 nr (tx2115nr) is my personal specimen, and | have decided that it is a piece
of junk.

Here are the problems (in no particular order):

1. The cursor intermittently and completely unpredictably jumps to the lower right
corner of the screen sometimes. | cannot make it happen, but when it starts doing it,
I have to disable the tablet service. Some people think it is EM interference from
the fan, and have suggested turning the screen slightly. Sounds like HP has not
acknowledged the problem.

Posted by Jason at http://www.shulerent.com/2009/05/17/avoid-the-hp-tx2000-
series-tablet-pcs/
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5/20/2009

I have this mouse jumping and clicking on something in the bottom righthand tray
too....driving me nuts. It seems to be when | have an external keyboard and mouse
attached. I feel the heat you mentioned but never associated that with it.

Posted by Brice at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

5/21/2009

| seriously hope this model will not be like tx2000. had problems with the cursor
clicking on the lower right part of the screen, but hp wont replace it even if it’s
still under warranty. their customer service sucks. and the laptop heats up so bad
to the point that i can’t place it on my lap. i will never buy an HP product again!

Posted by prec at http://blog.laptopmag.com/hands-on-with-the-hp-touchsmart-tx2z

5/24/2009

i have the same problem but the notebook was OK for like 9 months but then the
problem started to appear. i even disabled the touch screen & pen functionality but
the problem still exists. Nobody really knows how to fix this problem. I'm using
this notebook to give presentations and it is very disgraceful.

HP should pay more attention to such problems and update us with the solution
soon.

Posted by Dawood at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

5/24/2009

I have exactly the same problem - contacted HP and they said to uninstall the
duosense - this won't load so i have to get back to them

if anyone has a fix please post it its driving me mad !

Posted by Donna_UK at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

5/31/2009

OK I have wrestled with this problem for months now and this is what | have
found:

a) its nothing to do with heat in machine (as some have suggested) - mine does it as
soon as it is turned on and at the login screen!

b) It does go away if you rotate the screen towards you so that the bottom right
corner of the screen is over the <enter> key - hardly a solution though!

c) following on from (b) it doesn't happen in tablet mode or if you put the keyboard
behind the screen and use an external keyboard - again, not a solution!

d) the closest | have come to a workable solution is this:

- go into control panel and select "System" (from classic view)

- in the left hand pane choose "Device Manager"

- in the "Human Interface Devices" section locate "Wacom HID Pen™ and
"Disable" it (don't uninstall, just disable)

- restart the system
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Now you may think that this would disable the pen functionality, but no, the pen is
still recognised as if it were your finger and you can still operate the computer and
write with the pen. Obviously some of the more advanced pen functionality isn't
there, but its a fair exchange for that darn misbehaving mouse until HP come up
with a proper solution. Try it and see if it works for you.

Posted by oxfordy at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

7/2/2009

I've had this same problem (though it seems a bit more sporadic than what others
have experienced).

The physical reason for the problem seems to be RF interference from the corner of
the tablet base; since the tablet picks up the pen by measuring how the emitted RF
is altered by the pen, the interference near the corner must 'look like' the pen being
down there.

I have 'confirmed' this by placing a piece of aluminium foil between the screen and
the base (in the corner only); this abolishes the jumping behavior. Though | haven't
opened up my tablet, | would guess the intereference is coming from the power
conditioning circuits for the processor?

Regarding the "Wacom HID pen' disabling fix mentioned above: does the pen still
work as a pen (RF, with finer location and pressure sensitivity), or does it work as a
‘finger' (capacitive touch sensor in screen, much coarser location resolution)?

Posted by rellingerATNU at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

7/2/2009

After opening up... someone else's... tx2110us, | found there is a small conductive
foil on the underside of the plastic part underneath the screen. The only use I can
figure for this small sheild in such a specific place is to block EM interference from
affecting the tablet in exactly the way we've experienced.

What | can't figure out is why the shield is so small; if it extended a small bit (~ one
inch) more, it would completely cover the power conditioning circuitry below.

This modification, coupled with the fact that the keyboard backplane acts as a
sheild, would mean that emissions from the motherboard would be completely
blocked from affecting the screen.

The only explanation I can figure for this is some miscommunication during the
design process. Fortunately, this should be a really easy fix, and super cheap to
retrofit (simply print off a bunch of larger adhesive sheilds to be placed under the
plastics.
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Posted by rellingerATNU at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

7/2/2009

Man, wth?

I'm a HP tx2000 owner. Got mine in February 2008. It's almost been 1 1/2 years
since I've owned my lil tablet. It started acting funny when the pointer kept jumping
to the bottom right hand corner of the screen a couple months ago. ...l see
numerous complaints about the tx1z series, and there will probably be a buttload of
tx2z complaints to come. Thanks HP!

I think I'm going to email the CEO.
Posted by Jama at

http://forums11.itrc.hp.com/service/forums/questionanswer.do?admit=109447626+
12774149476974+28353475&threadld=1245319

7/23/2009

Same problem with my tx2000 pavilion. The mouse jumps to right hand corner and
sometimes right clicks on the icons in corner. It is very very irritating . HP

people hv not yet come up with a solution to this problem. Plz help if anybody
comes up with a good solution.

Posted by Abhijeet_C at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

8/11/2009

the cursor is jJumping to the bottom right corner of the screen.

it is a problem in the screen itself, because i have tested it with a different screen.
i switched of my mousepad, disconected my other mouse and i turned off the
screen in my laptop. when i was using an external screen the cursor didn't jump
anymore. so i guess its a hardware problem.

i contacted a servicedesk of hp and they recommended me to do a hardware
reset, and then some software updates. i did it all and the problem isn't gone

Posted by bs_1234 at http://www.fixya.com/support/t2759155-
cursor jumps buttom right corner screen

8/28/2009

I had this problem after only a month of ordering my tx2120us. | found a cheap,
easy workaround that completly eliminates the problem. | cut out a piece of
alumunim from a pop can and bent it to fit between the laptop and monitor on the
right of the computer. This acts like an EM shield. A bit of tape keeps it in place.
Aluminum foil would also work, and would be easier to cut and place.

Posted by Afraid at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562
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8/30/2009

I have the same problem with my tx2. My jumps to the upper right hand corner. |
beleive it to be a software problem. I sent it in to hp to fix it. They said they
changed the digitizer and that should have fixed. It took them about a month
to do it though. It still does it but it is not as bad. | have found that curtain
website will make it act up though. website with lots of video or flash affect it
more. example are like ign.com when you access videos or steampowered.com. |
dont think taping apieceof foil to the notebook is a fix. | think there needs to be a
software update. Just my opinion.

Posted by gm18714 at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

8/30/2009

It hasn't eliminated the problem...in fact I have seen it now jump to the up LEFT
corner at times... >

This is an HP software/hardware problem

Posted by PaulChristenson at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

9/3/2009

I've got the same problem. I've personally identified it as the digitizer being
triggered by the fan. You'll notice that if you rotate the screen away from the fan
area, the jumping will stop. Also, if you don't run the computer too hot, the jumping
won't happen. | told HP about the problem a while ago but they ignored me.
I've been using my laptop for the past year with the digitizer disabled in the device
manager.

Posted by marinell at http://www.fixya.com/support/t2759155-
cursor jumps buttom right corner screen

10/23/2009

I also am in the same boat. It is extremely irritating. This computer has A LOT of
malfunctions and terrible qualities. | have had mine for approximately 18
months and have had to send it back twice. The second time with a list of many,
7 or so, problems. Of which only 2 were fixed.

I am not about to put additions to my computer of the likes of aluminum foil or pop
cans. That is ridiculous. Whatever happened to quality products?

Posted by Nathanislast at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

11/6/2009

If you have this problem, pressurise HP, don't give up and go away. They do know
about the problem, they just don't want to admit to it out loud. My repair docket
says:

"Replaced media/KB cover as per SA C01641281 for identical faults client was
getting. Able to replicate cursor faults before cover replaced, faults now gone
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with new cover with adequate shielding, repair complete.™

If you experience this problem you should get HP to repair - warranty or not - it is a
design fault.

Posted by phoxford at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

11/23/2009

I have a loooong list of weird quirky issues on this computer.... overheating, disk
drive won't stay closed, clicks off with no warning, tablet works only sometimes,
keys falling off, cursor jumps to the lower right corner, I could go on.

Posted by Torri at http://wwww.ubuntuforums.org/showthread.php?p=8364655

12/21/2009

hello... pls tell me how to disable the digitizer... im also experiencing the same
problem and it's very annoying and i cant type continuously.. thnks

Posted by catcatm at http://www.fixya.com/support/t2759155-
cursor_jumps_buttom_right_corner_screen

12/30/2009

I have the same problem, multiple live chats with HP support over the past
year. The last chat last night they told me to send it in and for $398 they
would fix the problem. Basically | got almost 1 year with the laptop working,
spent a year with support off and on trying to resolve the issue and now they want
$400 to resolve the problem. It sounds like Acer and Sony laptops are going to be
the final resolution. HP's support and reliability are taking a dive the same way
Dell has. So they will not be #1 much longer

Posted by peltiereffects at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/Other-Notebook-PC-
questions/erratic-mouse/td-p/7456/page/2

2/6/2010

I did more searching on the net and found that the underlying problem is static
energy interference. They said to discharge the laptop static power by powering it
down, unplugging it and removing the battery, finally hold the power button down
for 60secs or more. Place back the battery and power up the laptop as normal. This
did not work for me!

The other solution that worked for me is to tilt the monitor away from the keypad
of the laptop when the cursor is behaving erratic. It is a bit uncomfortable to work
with but it works. After a while u can tilt it back to your liking and the problem
stays away.

Posted by Magadan at http://techrepublic.com.com/5208-6230-
0.html?forumID=101&threadlD=275331&messagelD=3239775&tag=content;leftC
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3/9/2010 I need some help urgently.My mouse pointer of my hp tx2000 laptop keeps on
moving to a corner and even clicks on it's own.l have tried anti-virus and anti-
malware's,no use though.Tried connecting a usb mouse thinking that it might be
touch pad gone wrong but that didn't work either. | have googled for any answers
but in vain.Help.

Posted by saaf at http://forum.driverpacks.net/viewtopic.php?pid=38730

5/31/2010 | I've removed the keyboard and the plastic panel beside the keyboard (beneath the
screen) to reveal the motherboard. In the area that the mouse would jump to when
the screen was rotated and lied down (convertible position), | placed some material
(this spot happens to be in the corner where the processor fan is. I'm thinking the
fan is emitting some electro magnetic field or something)

I placed a thin foam insulating pad that | salvaged from a dead hard drive and then
a folded pieceof aluminum foil in the same shape and placed it on top of the foil. |
think bare aluminum foil may be a little dangerous and risk shorting some circuit.
I've noticed the problem a couple of times in the last couple of months but it's
pretty much gone. Maybe a 95-99% reduction.

Anyway, to Angelofdarkwind, if you don't need the tablet function of your laptop,
you can disable both the touch and digitizer to eliminate the problem. I have no
idea how to do these things in Ubuntu but I'm sure there's info on their forums.

Posted by jojodrum3 at http://h30434.www3.hp.com/t5/TX-TM-Series-
Notebooks/Mouse-Jumping-to-corner-on-its-own-TX2000-tablet-PC/td-p/58562

25. On information and belief, and as described in the complaint postings
listed above, customers who contact HP about this problem during the warranty period are given
a variety of explanations for the problem, none of which actually resolve the problem. Some
consumers are told that the problem is caused by the computer’s touchpad, and are asked to
adjust the sensitivity of that device. Other consumers are directed to download replacement
drivers for the touchpad. Still others are told that they must perform a system restore, erasing all
of their files in the process, even though the problem exists out of the box.

26.  Consumers who are persistent with HP’s customer service and are invited

to return their notebooks to HP for warranty service fare no better. HP seemingly randomly
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replaces the motherboard, digitizer, touchpad, keyboard, LCD screen, fan or hard drive on
affected computers, all without resolving the problem. Futhermore, HP decreases the advertised
performance of the processor in an effort to address the problem. In the process, HP eradicates
all of the data on the consumer’s hard drive, by performing a system restore.

27. Customers who visit hp.com seeking support find that HP employees
advise them that “Touchpad is too sensitive. hands are brushing the pad while you type™?.

28. Named Plaintiff David Baba purchased his HP TX series computer on or
about November 29, 2008 from Sam’s Club in Tucson, Arizona. In making the decision to
purchase the notebook, Plaintiff Baba relied on HP’s representations that the computers
contained “tablet” or “touchscreen” features, representations which were touted by the company
in its description of the notebooks made available to every purchaser at the point of sale. These
representations were material to Plaintiff Baba’s decision to purchase his particular model over
other notebook computers.

29.  Approximately 6 months after purchasing the computer, Mr. Baba’s wife
noticed that the cursor would jump to the lower right portion of the screen. Mr. Baba contacted
HP about this problem on multiple occasions, and was told by HP at various times to update the
touchpad driver and update the computer BIOS. None of these procedures solved the problem.

30. Mr. Baba was next directed by HP to take the computer to the Geek Squad
for repair. The Geek Squad advised him that it was aware of the “jumping cursor” problem, that
the problem could not be repaired, and because he had not purchased the computer at Best Buy,
they could not be of any further assistance.

31. HP eventually allowed Mr. Baba to return his computer to HP in Fremont,
California for warranty service.

32. HP returned the computer to Mr. Baba with an indication that it had
replaced the screen on the computer. It did not, however, inform him that it had reduced the

computer’s processor speed to 50% of its capacity. The reduction of processor speed is often

*http://h30434.www3.hp.com/psg/board/message?board.id=General &message.id=5134&query.i
d=129053#M5134
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cited by internet complainants as a way to reduce or eliminate the jumping cursor, because the
slower the processor, the less heat produced by the computer, resulting in a slower fan rotation.

33.  Within less than two weeks after receiving the notebook back from HP,
Mr. Baba discovered that the processor speed had been reduced Upon making this discovery,
Mr. Baba increased the speed to its normal capacity. Once this was done, the cursor again began
jumping around the screen, although it was no longer “clicking” on its own.

34.  Mr. Baba again immediately contacted HP and demanded that his
computer be properly repaired. HP did not offer to satisfactorily repair the computer.

35. Mr. Ritz purchased his HP TX 2000 series computer from HP on or about
March 25, 2008. In making the decision to purchase the notebook, Plaintiff Ritz relied on HP’s
representations that the computers contained “tablet” or “touchscreen” features, representations
which were touted by the company in its description of the notebooks. These representations
were material to Plaintiff Ritz’s decision to purchase his particular model over other notebook
computers..

36. Plaintiff Ritz began sporadically experiencing the “jumping cursor”
problem approximately three to five months after purchase. He tried initially to adjust the
computer’s settings to alleviate the problem. On or about May, 2009, he contacted HP customer
support via online instant messaging. He was directed to adjust the sensitivity of the computer’s
touchpad and perform other software fixes. When these procedures failed to solve the problem,
Mr. Ritz was informed that he could, at a cost to him of $49, purchase telephone support to
resolve the problem. When Mr. Ritz questioned HP why it believed that it could repair the
problem through its telephone support department when its email support could not, he was told
that the telephone support representatives had received advanced training.

37. HP could not, and knew it could not, resolve the jumping cursor issue
through software fixes.

38.  As of at least November 29, 2008, the date Plaintiff Baba purchased his
TX2000, HP knew that the subject computers were experiencing significant and disabling
problems with a jumping cursor. It obtained this knowledge through customer complaints

communicated directly to HP through channels it has created to receive communications about
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service issues from its customers and because of the legion of complaints posted on hp.com and
other internet message boards such as those reproduced above.

39.  As of at least November 29, 2008, the date Plaintiff Baba purchased his
TX2000, HP knew that the solutions it was providing to those purchasers who complained about
the jumping cursor were not resolving the defect, as seen from the internet postings reproduced
above.

40. Despite the knowledge that the computers were defective and that HP
could not repair them through either software fixes, replacing items such the touchpad, keyboard
or screen, or attempting to repair the computers by decreasing the processing performance from
its advertised specifications, HP continued to offer the computers for sale to Named Plaintiff
Baba and putative class members, with representations that the computers were free from defect,
and that it would properly repair any problems with the computers.

41. Named Plaintiffs and members of the Class reasonably expected that the
notebooks were warranted by HP, would be free from defects, and would function normally for
at least the one year warranty period, as was expressly warranted by HP. Named Plaintiffs and
members of the Class also reasonably expected that HP would honor its warranty and provide
correct instructions to remedy the problem and/or appropriate repairs during the warranty period.

42.  The fact that the notebooks are defective is and was material to Named
Plaintiffs and Class Members, and Named Plaintiffs and Class Members would not have
purchased the notebooks had they known of the defect.

43.  The fact that HP is not properly repairing the notebooks during the
warranty period is and was material to Named Plaintiffs and Class Members, and Named
Plaintiffs and Class Members would not have purchased the notebooks had they known at the
time of purchase that HP was not properly repairing the notebooks.

44, Named Plaintiffs relied on the existence and terms of the warranty both in
making the decision to purchase the notebooks and in that they did not void the sale by returning
the notebooks within the period within which returns are permitted by HP and/or its retailers.

45.  HP was in the exclusive possession of the information regarding the

defect, which was material to Named Plaintiffs and Class members, and HP had a duty, under all
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of the circumstances, to disclose the material facts to Named Plaintiffs and members of the
Class.

46. HP had a duty to disclose the defect to Named Plaintiffs and Class
Members because it actively concealed the defect by failing to make any attempt to notify
customers of the defect, despite the numerous complaints that it received, and by representing to
purchasers that the defect could be repaired by software fixes or replacing items such as the
touchpad, screen, or keyboard, when it knew that the defect could not be repaired through any of
these methods.

47. HP had a duty to disclose the defect to Named Plaintiffs and Class
Members because its statements that the computer functioned as a tablet computer and that the
notebook was free from defects omitted facts which would have materially qualified those
statements.

48. HP’s statement that the notebook functioned as a tablet computer was
materially qualified by the fact that the notebook’s cursor operates normally only if the tablet
functions are disabled.

49.  HP’s statement that the notebooks were “free from defects” was materially
qualified by the fact that a significant defect existed.

50. HP made the misrepresentations and omissions described above in order to
induce Named Plaintiffs and Class Members to purchase the subject computers, and to keep the
computers beyond the specified return date.

51. Named Plaintiffs and Class Members were injured as a result of the
conduct described above, including by paying for a notebook that was worth substantially less
than it would have been had it been as described or warranted, by losing data in an attempt to
follow HP’s incorrect repair instructions, by incurring expenses in having the notebooks properly

repaired, and by incurring other expenses.
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA’S UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW
(Business & Professions Code 817200 et seq.)

52.  Named Plaintiffs restates the allegations above as if fully rewritten herein.

53.  California Business & Professions Code 817200, et seq. prohibits acts of
unfair competition, which means and includes any “unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or
practice,” any “unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising” and any act prohibited by
Business & Profession Code §17500.

54, HP violated California Business & Professions Code §17200’s prohibition
against engaging in an “unlawful” business act or practice, by, inter alia, representing the
computers had “tablet” or “touchscreen” capabilities without disclosing that those capabilities
coupled with the computer’s design led to a substantial defect in the notebooks, continuing to
voluntarily and expressly warrant the subject computers without the intent to uphold its warranty,
continuing to sell the subject computers after learning that the subject computers experienced
significant problems with jumping cursors, violating California Civil Code 81770, violating
California Civil Code 881572, 1573, 1709, and 1710, and by failing to disclose the defect, by
omitting facts it had a duty to disclose and by otherwise violating the common law.

55. HP violated California Civil Code 8§ 1572 by, for the purpose of inducing
Named Plaintiff Baba and Class Members to purchase the notebooks, (1) representing that the
notebooks had “tablet” or “touchscreen” capabilities without disclosing that those capabilities
coupled with the computer’s design led to a substantial defect in the notebooks; (2) representing
that the notebooks were free from defects when HP knew that to be untrue; (3) failing to disclose
the defect despite having knowledge of it at the time the notebooks were sold to Named Plaintiff
Baba and Class Members; and (4) by representing in its warranty that it would repair any defect
that existed without having the intention to perform that promise.

56. HP violated California Civil Code 8§ 1573 by (1) representing to Named
Plaintiff Baba and Class Members that the notebooks had “tablet” or “touchscreen” capabilities
without disclosing that those capabilities coupled with the computer’s design led to a substantial

defect in the notebooks; (2) representing that the notebooks were free from defects when HP
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knew that to be untrue; (3) failing to disclose the defect despite having knowledge of it at the
time the notebooks were sold to Named Plaintiff Baba and Class Members; and (4) by
representing in its warranty that it would repair any defect that existed without having the
intention to perform that promise.

57. HP violated California Civil Code 8§ 1709 in that HP, with intent to induce
Named Plaintiff Baba and Class Members to purchase the computers, willfully deceived Named
Plaintiff Baba and Class Members by (1) representing to Named Plaintiff Baba and Class
Members that the notebooks had “tablet” or “touchscreen” capabilities without disclosing that
those capabilities coupled with the computer’s design led to a substantial defect in the notebooks;
(2) representing that the notebooks were free from defects when HP knew that to be untrue; (3)
failing to disclose the defect despite having knowledge of it at the time the notebooks were sold
to Named Plaintiff Baba and Class Members; and (4) by representing in its warranty that it
would repair any defect that existed without having the intention to perform that promise..

58. HP violated California Civil Code §1770 as described in Count Il below.

59. HP violated California Business & Professions Code §17200’s prohibition
against engaging in an “unfair” business act or practice by, inter alia, representing the computers
to have “tablet” or “touchscreen” capabilities without disclosing that those capabilities coupled
with the computer’s design led to a substantial defect in the notebooks; by systematically
breaching its warranty contracts with consumers; continuing to sell the subject computers after
learning that they were defective; and discouraging consumers from pursuing their rights under
the warranty by providing incorrect information to those consumers about the cause of, and
solutions to, the cursor malfunction. Such conduct is immoral, unethical, oppressive and
unscrupulous.  Further, HP’s conduct caused and continues to cause substantial injury to
consumers who pay on average $1000 for the subject computers, which are worth substantially
less because of the defect and HP’s unwillingness or inability to properly repair the defect. HP’s
conduct carries with it no substantial benefit.

60.  The foregoing conduct also violates Business & Profession Code §17200’s
prohibitions against “fraudulent” business practices as described above, including, inter alia, by

representing the computers to have “tablet” or “touchscreen” capabilities without disclosing that
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those capabilities coupled with the computer’s design led to a substantial defect in the notebooks;
by continuing to sell the subject computers after learning that the subject computers were
defective; by making statements that are likely to deceive the reasonable consumer; by omitting
facts that are likely to deceive the reasonable consumer; by making false and misleading
representations; and by omitting facts it had a duty to disclose.

61. The misleading representations referred to above include HP’s
representation (1) that the product would function as a “tablet” computer, a function that was the
very essence of the computer and differentiated the product from other laptops; (2) that it would
be free from defects, (3) that if a defect existed it would be repaired by HP, as provided in the
warranty given to customers at the point of sale; (4) that the unstable cursor is the result of user
error (that is, brushing the touchpad accidentally); (5) and that the unstable cursor problem could
be resolved through software or firmware fixes or by adjusting properties of various hardware.

62.  The misrepresentations referred to above were material, and were relied
upon by Named Plaintiffs to their detriment. Named Plaintiffs purchased the computer with the
expectation that it would function as a “tablet” computer that it would be free from defects, and
that if a defect existed it would be repaired properly by HP. Named Plaintiffs invested
significant time in following the repair instructions provided by HP.

63.  The conduct of which Named Plaintiffs and the Class complain occurred
within California.

64. Named Plaintiffs reserve the right to allege other violations of law which
constitute other “unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice,” any “unfair, deceptive,
untrue or misleading advertising” and any act prohibited by Business & Profession Code 817500.
Such conduct is ongoing and continues to this date.

65. HP has thus engaged in acts, practices and advertising entitling Named
Plaintiffs to judgment and equitable monetary relief against HP, in the form of the purchase price
of the subject computers that Named Plaintiffs and Class members purchased and injunctive

relief, as set forth in the Prayer for Relief.
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA’S CONSUMER’S LEGAL REMEDIES ACT
(Cal. Civ. Code 81750 et seq.)
(on behalf of Plaintiff Baba)

66. Named Plaintiffs restates the allegations above as if fully rewritten herein.

67. At all relevant times, the subject computers constituted “goods,” as that
term is defined in Civ. Code § 1761(a).

68. At all relevant times, Named Plaintiff Baba was a “consumer,” as that
term is defined in Civ. Code § 1761(d).

69.  Atall relevant times, Defendant was a “person,” as that term is defined in
Civ. Code § 1761(c).

70. At all relevant times, Named Plaintiff Baba’s purchase of the subject
computers constituted a “transaction” as that term is defined in Civ. Code 8 1761(e).

71.  Atall relevant times, HP provided “services” to Named Plaintiff Baba and
the Class, within the meaning of Civil Code § 1761(b).

72. The CLRA provides in relevant part that “[t]he following unfair methods
of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices undertaken by any person in a transaction
intended to result or which results in the sale or lease of goods or services to any consumer are
unlawful: “(5) Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval, characteristics,
ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities which they do not have or that a person has a
sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connection which he or she does not have”, (7)
“Representing that [the Product is] of a particular standard, quality or grade, . . . if [it is] of
another., (9) “Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised”, and (14)
“Representing that a transaction confers or involves rights, remedies, or obligations which it does
not have or involve, or which are prohibited by law”; Civil Code 88 1770(a)(5), (7), (9) and (14).

73. HP failed to disclose that the notebooks contained the defect described
herein, despite being under a duty to do so.

74. At all pertinent times, HP has made false and misleading statements of

fact regarding the ability of the subject computers to properly function.  Specifically, it
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represented that the computer was “free from defects under normal use during the Limited
Warranty Period.” 3

75. At all pertinent times, HP has made false and misleading statements of
fact regarding the cause of the subject computers’ inability to properly function. Specifically, it
has a policy of denying that the jumping cursor is caused by a hardware or design problem, and
instead advises purchasers to perform a system restore on their computers, or download updated
or backdated drivers, or take other actions affecting the computer’s firmware or software that do
not resolve the problem. If consumers are persistent enough with their complaints to send their
computers to HP for repair, HP returns the computers with an indication that it has replaced a
hardware component such as the fan, the screen, the cover, or the keyboard of the computer.
None of these repairs, however, resolve the problem. By engaging in such conduct, HP violated
the CLRA.

76. Defendant’s violations of the CLRA occurred as a result of common
misrepresentations, omissions and statements of facts that were material to Named Plaintiff Baba
and to all Class members, and upon which Named Plaintiff Baba and all Class members relied
upon and/or reasonably could be expected to rely upon under all of the circumstances. The
misleading representations referred to above include HP’s representation that the computers had
“tablet” or “touchscreen” capabilities; the product would be free from defect, that the problem is
the result of user error (that is, brushing the touchpad accidentally); that the jumping cursor
problem could be resolved through software or firmware fixes or by adjusting properties of
various hardware; and that it would properly repair any defect that arose during the warranty
period.

77. The conduct of which Named Plaintiff Baba and the Class complain occurred

within California.

78.  Civil Code § 1780(a)(2) permits any court of competent jurisdiction to

enjoin practices that violate Civil Code § 1770.

¥ HP Limited Warranty at Page 2, Exhibit 2 hereto.
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79. Named Plaintiffs and the Class are also entitled to recover attorneys’ fees
and costs pursuant to Civil Code 88 1780 and 1781.

80. Named Plaintiffs and Class Members, as described herein, have suffered
damage and/or injury in fact as a result of Defendant’ violations of the CLRA.

81. In accordance with the procedure proscribed in California Civil Code
81780, Named Plaintiffs gave written notice to defendant. See Exhibit C, 12/16/09 Kaufman
letters to Hewlett Packard. As Defendant has failed to rectify or agree to rectify the problems
associated with the actions detailed above and failed to provide notice to all affected consumers
of its intent to do so within 30 days of the date of written notice pursuant to 81782 of the Act,
Named Plaintiff Baba seeks actual and punitive damages, restitution and all other relief available
to him and the other members of the Class pursuant to California Civil Code §1780.

82. Named Plaintiffs and the Class are entitled to damages, restitution, and

other relief pursuant to Civil Code 8§ 1780.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY

83. Named Plaintiffs restate the allegations above as if fully rewritten herein.

84. HP’s written warranty for the subject computers states in relevant part that
the product is free from defects in materials and workmanship and that if HP receives notice of
such defects during the warranty period, it will, at its option, either repair or replace products that
prove to be defective at no cost to the consumers. These statements constitute an affirmation of
fact or promise or description of the goods and not mere puffery. The statements were also part
of the basis of Named Plaintiffs’ and members of the Class' bargain with HP. The defect
discussed herein and HP’s failure to honor its express warranty by repairing the subject
computers or replacing the defective parts constitutes a breach of HP’s express written warranty.

85. HP has received timely notice of the breach of warranty alleged herein.
Defendant was provided ample notice of the problem with the subject computer as alleged above
and failed to take any steps to remedy the problem. Indeed, notice of a breach of warranty was

futile as HP knew of the problem but failed to take action in response to the problem.
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86. HP failed to provide, as a warranty replacement to Named Plaintiffs or
members of the Class, a computer that conforms to the qualities and characteristics that HP has
expressly warranted are possessed by the subject computers.

87.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breach of warranty,
Named Plaintiffs and Class Members have suffered damages in an amount to be determined at

trial.
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
(Breach of Implied Warranty of Merchantability)
(on behalf of Plaintiff Ritz)

88.  Named Plaintiffs restate the allegations above as if fully rewritten herein.

89. The warranty of merchantability is implied into every commercial
transaction.  The warranty of merchantability requires that products be of reasonable
workmanlike quality and free of defects. HP breached the warranty of merchantability by
designing, manufacturing, repairing, distributing and/or selling the defectively designed
computers.

90. The defectively designed computers were not of merchantable quality.
Because of the defective design of the computers, they were not of reasonable workmanlike
quality. As a proximate and foreseeable cause of HP’s breach of the warranty of
merchantability, Named Plaintiff Ritz and Class Members were damaged and incurred charges
that they would not have incurred but for the breach of the warranty of merchantability.

91. By reason of the foregoing, the Named Plaintiff Ritz and the Class
Members have suffered economic losses and are entitled to compensatory and punitive damages

in an amount to be determined at the trial of this action.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Named Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly
situated, pray for a judgment against HP as follows:
a. For an order certifying the proposed Class herein under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) and appointing Named Plaintiffs and their counsel of record to

represent said Class;
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b.

For an order that HP be permanently enjoined from engaging in the

unlawful activities and practices complained of herein;

C.

For an order awarding restitution and disgorgement of all monies paid by

Plaintiff and the Class Members and/or ill-gotten gains realized by HP as a direct result of HP’s

unlawful, unfair and/or fraudulent business practices complained of herein;

d.

For an order imposing a constructive trust for the benefit of Plaintiff and

the Class Members upon all charges paid by Plaintiff and the Class Members;

f.
0.

h.
prescribed by law;

J-

For declaratory relief as this Court deems appropriate;

For attorneys’ fees and costs of suit, including expert witness fees;

For an order awarding pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as

For actual and punitive damages plus interest thereon; and,

For such other further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all claims so triable.

Dated: July 15, 2010

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Barbara Quinn Smith

Barbara Quinn Smith (Ohio Bar 0055328)

Thomas K.Caldwell (Indiana Bar 16001-49)
tkcaldwell@mhclaw.com

(Pro Hac Vice)

T. John Kirk (Indiana Bar 27202-29)
(Pro Hac Vice)
kirktjohn@mhclaw.com

MADDOX HARGETT & CARUSO, P.C.
10100 Lantern Road

Suite 150

Fishers, IN 46038

Telephone: 317-598-2040

Facsimile: 317-598-2050
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Scott R. Kaufman, SBN 190129
1400 Coleman Ave., Suite F-26
Santa Clara, CA 95050
Telephone: (408) 727-8882
Facsimile: (408) 727-8883
lemonatty@gmail.com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that this document(s) filed through the ECF system will be sent
electronically to the registered participants as identified on the Notice of Electronic Filing (NEF)
and paper copies will be sent to those indicated as non registered participants on July 15, 2010.

Dated: July 15, 2010 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Barbara Quinn Smith
Barbara Quinn Smith
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Scott R. Kaufman, SBN 190129
1400 Coleman Ave., Suite F-26
Santa Clara, CA 95050
Telephone: (408) 727-8882
Facsimile: (408) 727-8883
lemonatty@gmail.com
(Additional Counsel listed below)

Attorneys for David Baba and Ray Ritz, Named Plaintiffs and all others similarly situated
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
SAN JOSE DIVISION

DAVID BABA, CASE NO:
and
JUDGE:
RAY RITZ,

Individually and on behalf CLRA DECLARATION

of all others similarly situated,

PLAINTIFFS,

_VS_

HEWLETT PACKARD COMPANY,
A Corporation,

DEFENDANT.

I, Scott Kaufman, declare:

1. I am an attorney at law duly admitted to practice before the courts of the state of
California and am attorney of record for Plaintiffs.

2. The following declaration is made upon my own true knowledge and belief of the
events that have occurred in this matter.

3. The Complaint filed concurrently herewith is filed in a proper place for the trial,
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for all of the reasons listed below:

e This is the county in which the subject matter of the action, or a substantial portion
thereof, occurred;

e This is the county in which the person against whom the action is brought has its
principal place of business or is doing business; and

e This is the county in which the parties entered into the subject transaction (with respect to
Plaintiff Ritz).

| declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing
IS true and correct.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Scott R. Kaufman
Scott R. Kaufman, SBN 190129

Barbara Quinn Smith (Ohio Bar 0055328)
(admission pro hac vice to be filed)
MADDOX HARGETT & CARUSO
9853 Johnnycake Ridge Road

Suite 302

Mentor, OH 44060

Telephone: 440-354-4010

Facsimile: 440-848-8175

Thomas A. Hargett (Indiana Bar 11252-49)
(admission pro hac vice to be filed)
Thomas K.Caldwell (Indiana Bar 16001-49)
(admission pro hac vice to be filed)

T. John Kirk (Indiana Bar 27202-29)
MADDOX HARGETT & CARUSO
10100 Lantern Road

Suite 150

Fishers, IN 46038

Telephone: 317-598-2040

Facsimile: 317-598-2050
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EXHIBIT B



LIMITED WARRANTY

United States and Canada

This document includes Limited Warranty information for computer
products purchased in the United States and Canada.

Product Limited Warranty Periods

Hardware Covered Duration of Warranty Period

HP computer 1 year

Included HP accessories and 1 year

botteries

Third-party accessories Not warranted by HP. Refer to
manufacturer’s warranty.

General Terms

THIS LIMITED WARRANTY APPLIES TO THE HP BRANDED HARDWARE
PRODUCTS (“HP PRODUCTS”) SOLD BY OR LEASED FROM HEWLETT-PACKARD
COMPANY, ITS SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES, AUTHORIZED RESELLERS, OR
COUNTRY DISTRIBUTORS (COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO IN THIS LIMITED
WARRANTY AS “HP"). EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS LIMITED
WARRANTY, HP MAKES NO OTHER WARRANTIES OR CONDITIONS, EXPRESS
OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY
AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. HP EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL
WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS NOT STATED IN THIS LIMITED WARRANTY.
ANY IMPLED WARRANTIES THAT MAY BE IMPOSED BY LAW ARE LIMITED IN
DURATION TO THE UMITED WARRANTY PERIOD. SOME STATES OR
COUNTRIES DO NOT ALLOW A LIMITATION ON HOW LONG AN {MPLIED
WARRANTY LASTS OR THE EXCLUSION OR LIMITATION OF INCIDENTAL OR
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES FOR CONSUMER PRODUCTS. IN SUCH STATES
OR COUNTRIES, SOME EXCLUSIONS OR LIMITATIONS OF THIS LIMITED
WARRANTY MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU.

THIS HP LIMITED WARRANTY IS VALID ONLY IN THE COUNTRY OR LOCALITY
WHERE HP HAS MARKETED THIS PRODUCT. THE LEVEL OF WARRANTY
SERVICE YOU RECEIVE MAY VARY ACCORDING TO LOCAL STANDARDS.
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YOUR HP PRODUCT WILL BE REPAIRED ONLY IN THE COUNTRY IIN WHICH IT
WAS MARKETED. IF YOU ARE GUTSIDE THE COUNTRY IN WHICH THE
PRODUCT WAS MARKETED, YOU MAY BE REQUIRED TO SHIP THE PRODUCT
AT YOUR EXPENSE 7O AN AUTHORIZED REPAIR CENTER. HP WILL NOT ALTER
FORM, FIT, OR FUNCTION OF THIS HP PRODUCT TO MAKE IT OPERATE IiN A
COUNTRY FOR WHICH IT WAS NEVER INTENDED TO FUNCTION FOR LEGAL
OR REGUIATORY REASONS.

You are entitled to warranty service according to the terms and conditions
of this document if a repair to your HP Product is required within the
Limited Warranty Period. HP warrants that the HP Product and all the
internal components of the product that you have purchased or leased
from HP are free from defects in materials and workmanship under normal
use during the Limited Warranty Period.

The Limited Warranty Period starts on the date of purchase or lease from

HP. Your dated sales or delivery receipt, showing the date of purchase or
lease of the HP Produdt, is your proof of the purchase or lease date. You

may be required to provide proof of purchase or lease as a condition of

receiving warranly service.

Rechargeable botteries are entifled to a one (1) year warranty. They do
not inherit the remaining service period of the HP Product to which they
are connecled, and any warranty services for the HP Product do not
apply.

HP Products are manufaciured using new materials or new and used
materials equivalent fo new in performance and reliability. Replacement
parts may be new or equivalent 1o new. HP will, af its discretion, repair or
replace any component or hardware product that manifests o defect in
materials or workmanship during the Limited Warranty Period. All
component parfs or hardware products removed under this Limited
Warranty become the property of HP. The replacement part or product
takes on either the Limited Warranty status of the removed part or product
or the ninety (90) day Limited Warranty of the spare part, whichever is
longer. HP, ot its discretion, may elect to provide you with a replacement
product selected by HP that is af least equivalent in hardware performance
to your HP Product. HP reserves the right to elect, at its sole discretion, to
give you a refund of your purchase price or lease payments {less interesf)
instead of a replacement. These are your exclusive remedies for defective
products.
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HP IS NOT RESPONSIBILE FOR DAMAGE TO OR LOSS OF ANY PROGRAMS,
DATA, OR REMOVABLE STORAGE MEDIA. HP IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE
RESTORATION OR REINSTALLATION OF ANY PROGRAMS OR DATA OTHER
THAN SOFTWARE INSTALLED BY HP WHEN THE HP PRODUCT WAS
MANUFACTURED.

HP does not warrant that the operation of this HP Product will be
uninterrupted or errorfree. HP is not responsible for damage that occurs
as a result of your failure fo follow the instructions that came with the HP
Product.

This Limited Warranty does not apply to expendable parts. This Limited
Warranty does not extend to any product from which the serial number
has been removed or that has been damaged or rendered defective

(a) as a result of accident, misuse, abuse, or other external causes; (b) by
operation outside the usage parameters stated in the user documentation
that shipped with the product; {c) by the use of parts not manufactured or
sold by HP; or (d) by modification or service by anyone other than (i} HP,
(it} an HP authorized service provider, or (iii} your own installation of end-
user replaceable HP or HP approved paris, if available for your product in
the servicing country.

These terms and conditions constifute the complete and exclusive warranty
ogreement between you and HP regarding the HP Product you have
purchased or leased. These terms and conditions supersede any prior
agreements or represenfations—including representations made in HP
sales literature or advice given to you by HP or an agent or employee of
HP—that may have been made in connection with your purchase or lease
of the HP Product. No change to the conditions of this Limited Warranty is
valid unless it is made in writing and signed by an authorized
representative of HP.

As with all batteries, the maximum capacily of the batiery included in the
HP Product will decrease with time or use. The battery warranty does not
cover changes in battery capacity. Your battery is only warranted from
defects in materials or workmanship resulting in failure. To determine
whether your battery has had a warranted failure, you may be required to
run an HP diagnostic test. Bottery life is not warranied and will vary
depending on product configuration and usage, including but not limited
to product model, applications running, power management settings, and
product features.
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Limitation of Liability

IF YOUR HP PRODUCT FAILS TO WORK AS WARRANTED ABOVE, YOUR SOLE
AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY (AT THE SOLE DISCRETION OF HPj SHALL BE ONE OF
THE FOLLOWING: REPAIR OF THE HP PRODUCT, REPLACEMENT OF THE HP
PRODUCT, OR A REFUND OF YOUR PURCHASE PRICE OR LEASE PAYMENTS
(LESS INTEREST). THE MAXIMUM LIABILITY OF HP UNDER THIS LIMITED
WARRANTY IS EXPRESSLY LIMITED TO THE LESSER OF THE PRICE YOU HAVE
PAID FOR THE HP PRODUCT OR THE COST OF REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT OF
ANY HARDWARE COMPONENTS THAT MALFUNCTION IN CONDITIONS OF
NORMAL USE.

HP IS NOT LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES CAUSED BY THE HP PRODUCT OR THE
FAILURE OF THE HP PRODUCT TO PERFORM, INCLUDING ANY LOST PROFITS
OR SAVINGS OR SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES.
HP IS NOT LIABLE FOR ANY CLAIM MADE BY A THIRD PARTY OR MADE BY
YOU FOR A THIRD PARTY.

THIS LIMITATION OF LABILITY APPLIES WHETHER DAMAGES ARE SOUGHT,
OR A CLAIM MADE, UNDER THIS LIMITED WARRANTY OR AS A TORT CLAIM
(INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE AND STRICT PRODUCT LIABILITY), A CONTRACT
CLAIM, OR ANY OTHER CLAIM. THIS LIMITATION OF UABILITY CANNOT BE
WAIVED OR AMENDED BY ANY PERSON. THIS LIMITATION OF LIABILITY
WILL BE EFFECTIVE EVEN IF YOU HAVE ADVISED HP OR AN AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OF HP OF THE POSSIBILITY OF ANY SUCH DAMAGES. THIS
LIMITATION OF LABILITY, HOWEVER, WILL NOT APPLY TO CLAIMS FOR
PERSONAL INJURY.

THIS UMITED WARRANTY GIVES YOU SPECIFIC LEGAL RIGHTS. YOU MAY
HAVE ADDITIONAL STATUTORY RIGHTS AGAINST THE SELLER BASED ON
YOUR PURCHASE AGREEMENT. THOSE RIGHTS ARE NOT IN ANY WAY
AFFECTED BY THIS HP LIMITED WARRANTY. YOU MAY ALSO HAVE OTHER
RIGHTS THAT VARY FROM STATE TO STATE OR FROM COUNTRY TO
COUNTRY. YOU ARE ADVISED TG CONSULT APPLICABLE STATE OR COUNTRY
LAWS FOR A FULL DETERMINATION OF YOUR RIGHTS.

Accessories

The Limited Warranty terms and conditions for HP accessories are as
indicated in the Limited Warranty applicable to HP accessories.

Third-party hardware accessories are provided “AS 1S.” However, third-
party manufacturers or suppliers may provide their own warranties fo you.
It is your responsibility to contact third-party manufacturers or suppliers for
their warranty support.
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Software

HP DOES NOT WARRANT SOFTWARE PRODUCTS, INCLUDING ANY
SOFTWARE PRODUCTS OR THE OPERATING SYSTEM PREINSTALLED BY HP.
The only HP obligations with respect to software distributed by HP under
the HP brand name are set forth in the applicable end-user license or
program license agreement. Third-party hardware and software products
are provided “AS IS.” However, third-party manufacturers, suppliers, or
publishers may provide their own warranties direcly to you. If the
removable media on which HP distributes the software proves to be
defective in materials or workmanship within thirty (30) days of purchase,
your sole remedy shall be to return the removable media to HP for
replacement.

TECHNICAL SUPPORT

HP offers a variety of technical support options. Refer to the “Contacting
HP” section later in this document for more information.

Hardware Technical Support

Free hardware technical support is provided for the duration of your
warranty. After the warranty has expired, hardware technical support is
available for a fee. The fee will be charged to your credit card when you
call technical support.

Limited Software Technical Support

Free limited software technical support is available for one (1) year from
the date of purchase or lease. Your dated sales or delivery receipt,
showing the date of purchase or lease, is your proof of the purchase or
lease date. You may be required to provide proof of purchase or lease as
a condition of receiving limited software technical support.

Limited software technical support is available only for software
preinstalled on the computer by HP.
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